Filed 09-09-2022

Page 1 of 15

FILED 09-09-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III Case No. 2022AP882-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAYMAND L. VANNIEUWENHOVEN, Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal to Review the Judgment of Conviction, entered in the Circuit Court for Marinette County, the Honorable James A. Morrison presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ANA L. BABCOCK State Bar No. 1063719 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

BABCOCK LAW, LLC 130 E. Walnut Street, St. 401 P.O. Box 22441 Green Bay, WI 54305 (920) 662-3964 ababcock@babcocklaw.org

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

I. DID THE WARRANTLESS EXTRACTION OF VANNIEUWENHOVEN'S DNA VIOLATE THE FOURTH AMENDMENT?

The circuit court answered no.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This case involves novel issues of law and is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves the murder of a young couple camping at McClintock Park in Marinette County that occurred over four decades ago. R. 1 at 1-2. There was evidence that the female had been sexually assaulted, and police found semen in the female victim's shorts. *Id.* at 2. The shorts were submitted to the crime lab and apparently yielded no results; the shorts were returned to and maintained at the Marinette County Sheriff's Office. *Id.* at 2-3. There was no apparent activity on the case for two decades.

In the mid-nineties, after technological advances in the analysis of DNA, police reopened the case. *Id.* at 3. The shorts were sent to the crime lab and a single male DNA profile was developed from the semen in the shorts. *Id.* The profile was uploaded to CODIS, and over the next couple decades, there was never a hit. *Id.* The case went cold again. *See id.*

In 2018, the case was again reopened. *Id.* After more advances in DNA technology, police learned of "a new genealogical type of DNA program. . . ." R. 421 at 190. The profile was submitted to Parabon Nanoloabs for genealogical analysis. *Id.* at 192. Through their analysis, Parabon was able to identify characteristics of the suspect: the suspect's ancestry was mainly from the norther European area, the suspect has fair to very fair skin, blue eyes, reddish brown hair, and freckles. R. 1 at 3. Parabon was able to develop an image of what the suspect may have looked like at age 25 and at age 65. *Id.*

The Parabon lab was able to identify a possible family name of Vannieuwenhoven. R. 421 at 193. There were four brothers, four grandsons, and four nephews that possibly fit the profile. *Id.* Police then sought to obtain DNA from three of the four brothers: Cornelius, Edward, and Raymand (the fourth brother had passed away). *Id.* Police were able to obtain DNA samples from Cornelius and Edward, and there was not a match. *Id.* at 193-204.

Police then sought to obtain Raymand Vannieuwenhoven's DNA and employed the assistance of Chief Deputy Laskowski from neighboring Oconto County, where Vannieuwenhoven resided. Id. Police devised a scheme which Laskowski would approach Vannieuwenhoven's home and ask him to fill out a survey about local policing. R. 137 at 43. The plan was a ruse. An integral part of the plot was to have Vannieuwenhoven seal the envelope to obtain Vannieuwenhoven's DNA. Id. 51-52.

In March 2019, Laskowski went to Vannieuwenhoven's home, was invited inside, and sat down at his table. R. 137 at 44. Laskowski inquired if Vannieuwenhoven was willing to complete a survey about

law enforcement and community-related questions. Id. at Vannieuwenhoven completed the survey. 45. Laskowski then told Vannieuwenhoven "So what we'll do here is I'll put it in the envelope so these answers can't get changed. Okay? And you seal it. And then we'll sign it." R. 133 at 7. Laskowski then turned the envelope over to Marinette County police. R. 421 at 208. The envelope was then sent to the crime lab. The lab extracted and analyzed DNA. Vannieuwenhoven's Id.at229-30. Vannieuwenhoven's DNA matched to the semen in the victim's shorts. Id. at 229-30.

On March 21, 2019, a criminal complaint was issued charging two counts of first-degree murder. On December 2, 2020, Vannieuwenhoven filed a motion to suppress, asserting that his saliva and DNA was obtained through an illegal search and seizure. R. 121. Vannieuwenhoven asserted that any alleged consent was involuntary and that the search and seizure went beyond the scope of any alleged consent. *Id*.

The circuit court denied the motion. R. 156. The court concluded that this was "in every respect voluntary." *Id.* at 8. The court explained that Vannieuwenhoven "gave consent to talk to the police, knew the person he was speaking to was a police officer, agreed to the police officers request that he come in to the house, freely provided information to the police officer about policing and other issues, voluntarily completed the survey, placed his DNA on the envelope when he sealed it and gave that envelope to the police officer." *Id.*

¹ The complaint also charged first-degree sexual assault. That count was later dismissed due to the statute of limitations expiring.

Following 6-day trial in July 2021, a Vannieuwenhoven was found guilty. R. 267-68. He was sentenced to life in prison. R. 387. On May 24, 2022, Vannieuwenhoven filed notice of appeal. a Vannieuwenhoven passed away in prison on June 17, 2022. R. 439.²

ARGUMENT

I. THE WARRANTLESS EXTRACTION OF VANNIEUWENHOVEN'S DNA VIOLATED THE FOURTH AMENDMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court's review of a decision on a motion to suppress presents a question of constitutional fact, and the Court engages in a two-step inquiry. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W. 2d 463. The Court reviews the circuit court's finding of historical facts under a clearly erroneous standard. *Id.* The Court reviews the application of facts to constitutional principles de novo. *Id.*

B. DNA Reveals Highly Sensitive Information

DNA is not just a double helix visible only through a microscope, it is a portal into the most sensitive information about us. Private companies purport to be able to use DNA to determine whether someone likes sweet v. salty, has a unibrow, is lactose intolerant, is a deep sleeper, is predisposed for anxiety or irritable bowel syndrome, and a litany of deeply private information.³ This case is a prime example of the depths of information that can be drawn from

_

² "A defendant who dies pending appeal, irrespective of the cause of death, is no less entitled to [his right to appeal.]" *State v. McDonald*, 144 Wis 2d. 531, 537, 424 N.W.2d 411 (1998).

³ 23andMe, Compare DNA Tests, https://www.23andme.com/compare-dna-tests/

one's DNA: the suspect's ancestry was mainly from the norther European area, the suspect has fair to very fair skin, blue eyes, reddish brown hair, and freckles. R. 1 at 3. Parabon was able to develop an image of what the suspect may have looked like at age 25 and at age 65. *Id.*

C. Vannieuwenhoven Had a Reasonable Expectation of Privacy in His DNA

The Fourth Amendment generally requires that police obtain a warrant before conducting a search. State v. Randall, 2019 WI 80, ¶ 10, 387 Wis. 2d 744, 930 N.W.2d 223. To constitute a "search" for Fourth Amendment purposes, it must have occurred in an area in which an individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy. United States v. Davis, 690 F.3d 226, 241 (4th Cir. 2012). An individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy in their DNA and the genetic information contained therein. See Skinner v. Ry. Labor Execs.' Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 616 (1989) (concluding that an individual has an expectation of privacy in the "physiological data" derived from biological samples); Randall, 387 Wis. 2d 744, ¶ 38 (concluding that an individual has a privacy interest in her blood).

D. The Extraction and Subsequent Analysis of the Defendant's DNA Were Illegal Searches

As an initial matter, Vannieuwenhoven does not claim a privacy interest in the envelope itself. The Fourth Amendment was triggered once law enforcement extracted Vannieuwenhoven's saliva and DNA from the envelope. A second search occurred when the government analyzed the DNA.

For the past decade, courts have grappled with how to apply bedrock Fourth Amendment principles to evolving technology. In *Riley*, the Supreme Court analyzed the Fourth Amendment as applied to modern day smart phones, noting that they "differ in both a quantitative and qualitative sense" from physical objects. *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 393 (2014). The Court concluded that cell phones contain "the privacies of life" (quoting *Boyd v. United States*, 116 U.S. 616, 630 (1886) such as medical information, financial data, location data, etc. *Riley*, 573 U.S. at 394-96. Thus, even if the phone is lawfully in police custody, a warrant is required to search its contents. *Id.* at 403.

Similarly in *Davis*, the Fourth Circuit analyzed how the Fourth Amendment applies to DNA evidence, given the recent technological advances allowing police to extract and uncover of wealth of personal information. Davis, 690 F.3d at 240. The defendant in *Davis* claimed to be the victim of a shooting, and police collected his clothing at the hospital to investigate the alleged crime. *Id.* at 230. Nothing came of it, and the police held the clothing in the property room. *Id.* Subsequently, the defendant became a suspect in an unrelated murder, and police realized that they had his clothing in evidence from the prior investigation. *Id.* at 231. Police retrieved the clothing, extracted the defendant's DNA, and created a DNA profile. *Id.* The defendant's DNA profile did not connect him to the murder, but police uploaded the profile into their DNA database for potential future use. *Id.* In yet another murder investigation, the defendant's sample in the database provided a hit. *Id.* at 232.

The court held that the police lawfully acquired the clothing, and that the defendant had no expectation of privacy in the *outward appearance* of the clothing itself. *Id.* at 244. However, once the police extracted the defendant's

DNA from the clothing, the Fourth Amendment was triggered. *Id.* The court explained that lawful possession of the item did not give police authority to search the item again in an unrelated investigation. *Id.* at 243. The defendant maintained a reasonable expectation of privacy in his DNA on the clothing and thus extracting the DNA constituted a search. *Id.* at 243.

A second search occurred when the police analyzed the defendant's DNA. *Id.* at 243-44. The court reasoned that given the physiological data and private medical information contained in DNA, society recognizes an expectation of privacy. *Id.* at 243.

The facts of this case fit squarely within the analysis in *Davis*. Vannieuwenhoven concedes that he had no expectation of privacy in the outward appearance of the envelope itself. However, like in *Davis*, once police extracted his DNA from the envelope, the Fourth Amendment was triggered. *Id.* at 244. And a second search occurred when police analyzed Vannieuwenhoven's DNA. *Id.* at 243-44.

In short, Vannieuwenhoven maintained a reasonable expectation of privacy in his DNA and the information revealed therein; thus, the warrantless searches of this information violated the Fourth Amendment.

E. The Consent Exception to the Warrant Requirement Does not Apply

There are exceptions to the warrant rule including that the individual consented to the search. *Randall*, 387 Wis. 2d 744, \P 10.

As a technical point, Vannieuwenhoven did not actually consent to anything. Consent must be freely and voluntarily given; it is not enough to show mere "acquiescence to a claim of authority." *State v. Reed*, 2018 WI 109, ¶ 58, 384 Wis. 2d 469, 920 N.W.2d 56. The interaction between Chief Deputy Laskowski and Vannieuwenhoven went as follows:

So what we'll do here is I'll put it in the envelope so these answers can't get changed. Okay? *And you seal it.* And then we'll sign it.

R. 133 at 7 (emphasis added). Vannieuwenhoven simply complied with the officer's directives.

But the envelope itself is of little consequence. To the extent Vannieuwenhoven's compliance constituted consent, the subsequent searches went far beyond the scope of that consent. "The standard for measuring the scope of a suspect's consent under the Fourth Amendment is that of 'objective' reasonablenesswhat would the reasonable person have understood by the exchange between the officer and the suspect"? Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 251 (1991). The scope of consent is limited by its authorization. Walter v. United States, 447 U.S. 649, 656-57 (1980). For example, "[c]onsent to search a garage would not implicitly authorize a search of an adjoining house; a warrant to search for a stolen refrigerator would not authorize the opening of desk drawers." *Id.* at 656-57.

Assuming Vannieuwenhoven gave some form of consent, a reasonable person would not have understood this exchange as giving consent to extract Vannieuwenhoven's DNA and to sequence it to generate a DNA profile. A reasonable person would have thought he was consenting to

police taking the completed, signed, and sealed survey to the Sheriff, as he was told. R. 421 at 259.

While the law does tolerate some deceit on behalf of the police (e.g., police can sometimes make misrepresentations during an interrogation *See State v. Triggs*, 2003 WI App 91, ¶ 15, 264 Wis. 2d 861, 663 N.W.2d 396) trickery has no place when it comes to voluntary consent.

CONCLUSION

Vannieuwenhoven requests that this Court reverse the judgment of conviction.