Filed 11-18-2022

Page 1 of 39

FILED 11-18-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP882-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAYMAND L. VANNIEUWENHOVEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE AND CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MARINETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES A. MORRISON, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Significantly, in King, the Court held that using a buccal swab to collect DNA from an arrested defendant as part of the booking process was a search subject to the Fourth Amendment because it involved an intrusion into the person's body to collect the sample, but held that the intrusion was so minimal, the information gathered so limited, and the circumstances under which it was conducted were so regular that no warrant was required; the searches were reasonable on their own. King, 569 U.S. at 463–65. It rationally follows that where police simply evaluate a DNA sample that was handed to them and required no governmental bodily intrusion or governmental bodily contact with the subject to collect, no Fourth Amendment search has been performed. See Raynor. 99 A.3d 760-63. An outlier, nonbinding Fourth Circuit case is an inadequate basis for this Court to depart from precedential cases in Wisconsin and from the Supreme Court regarding what constitutes a Fourth Amendment search such as those discussed in Randall.6

Granted, unlike here, in *Randall* the defendant had been arrested for drunk driving and therefore part of the lead opinion's analysis revolved around the diminished privacy interests of an arrestee. *Randall*, 387 Wis. 2d 744, ¶ 21. But that opinion did not garner a majority of the court. The three-justice concurrence believed that the search-incident-to-arrest discussion in the lead opinion was unnecessary because Randall consented to the blood draw—

 $^{^6}$ See State v. Randall, 2019 WI 80, ¶¶ 14–17, 64–65, 387 Wis. 2d 744, 930 N.W.2d 223.

Case 2022AP000882 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2022 Page 22 of 39

meaning the only Fourth Amendment search (the piercing of the defendant's skin to obtain the evidence) was conducted pursuant to a well-established exception to the warrant requirement, and the subsequent testing had no constitutional significance because it was simply the evaluation of lawfully-obtained evidence akin to the film obtained in *Petrone*. *Id.* ¶¶ 56–59, 64, 67–72 (Roggensack, C.J., concurring).

Regardless, an arrest is not the only situation in which a person has a diminished—or no—legitimate privacy interest in something lawfully in the police's hands. Here, Vannieuwenhoven not only voluntarily abandoned his saliva, but he voluntarily abandoned it directly to someone he knew was law enforcement. He had no legitimate expectation of privacy in his genetic identity once he voluntarily abandoned the envelope containing his saliva to the police, therefore no warrant was required to develop his genetic identity from it.

2. No constitutional provision requires police to inform suspects of their objectives when investigating, and therefore the police's conducting a law enforcement survey to get Vannieuwenhoven to voluntarily lick the envelope and abandon it was lawful.

Contrary to what Vannieuwenhoven sets forth in his brief, albeit summarily, consent to a search is not at issue here because, as explained above, no constitutionally significant search was performed when his genetic identity was obtained from the saliva sample. (Vannieuwenhoven's Br. 10–12.) It is the collection of the saliva sample that is subject to Fourth Amendment scrutiny—if the police violated the Fourth Amendment when they collected the sample, the genetic identity evidence gathered from it may

Case 2022AP000882 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2022 Page 23 of 39

be subject to suppression. See State v. Kennedy, 2014 WI 132, ¶¶ 34–37, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834. Once the sample is lawfully in police's hands, though, processing that sample to obtain Vannieuwenhoven's genetic identity is of no constitutional significance. Petrone, 161 Wis. 2d at 545; VanLaarhoven, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 16. What is really at issue, then, is the voluntariness of Vannieuwenhoven's abandonment of his saliva. Indeed, this is the gravamen of what Vannieuwenhoven actually argues: he claims that the DNA evidence should have been suppressed because police did not tell him that they planned to obtain his genetic identity from his saliva, and had he known that he would not have "consent[ed]" to licking the envelope. (Vannieuwenhoven's Br. 11–12.) That is really an argument that the police unlawfully seized his saliva sample by not informing him they were seeking it, not a challenge to consent for a search.

Voluntariness is often at issue when consent to a search is challenged, though, so the case law on consent to a Fourth Amendment search or seizure is instructive on what constitutes a voluntary abandonment of property. The Constitution does not "require that the police supply a suspect with a flow of information to help him calibrate his self-interest" in his dealings with law enforcement. *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 422 (1986). Thus, "[t]he Fourth Amendment allows some police deception" in obtaining potential evidence from a suspect "so long [as] the suspect's 'will was [not] overborne" by improper police coercion. *United States v. Spivey*, 861 F.3d 1207, 1214 (11th Cir. 2017) (citation omitted).

There is "no talismanic definition of 'voluntariness,' mechanically applicable to the host of situations where the question has arisen." *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 224 (1973) (citation omitted). "The notion of 'voluntariness' . . . is itself an amphibian." *Id.* (citing

Culombe v. Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 604–05 (1961)). For Fourth Amendment purposes, "[a]s with police questioning, two competing concerns must be accommodated in determining the meaning of a 'voluntary' consent—the legitimate need for such searches and the equally important requirement of assuring the absence of coercion." Id. at 227. "[T]he question whether a consent to a search [or seizure] was in fact 'voluntary' or was the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of all the circumstances." Id. Accordingly, "all [of] the surrounding circumstances" must be examined, and account taken of "subtly coercive police questions, as well as the possibly vulnerable subjective state of the person who consents." Id. at 229.

Importantly, however, while consent to a search or seizure must be voluntary, it does *not* need to be "knowing" and "intelligent." *Id.* at 241. This is so because "[t]here is a

⁷ In *Padley*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court quoted language from a prior decision: "[O]rderly submission to law enforcement officers who, in effect, incorrectly represent that they have the authority to search and seize property, is not knowing, intelligent and voluntary consent under the Fourth Amendment." State v. Padley, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 62, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867(emphasis added) (citing State v. Giebel, 2006 WI App 239, ¶ 18, 297 Wis. 2d 446, 724 N.W.2d 402). However, In State v. Blackman, 2016 WI App 69, 371 Wis. 2d 635, 886 N.W.2d 94, then-judge and now-Justice Hagedorn observed that the references to the "knowing" and "intelligent" language appearing in Padley and Giebel conflict with Schneckloth. Judge Hagedorn observed that "The United States Supreme Court has made clear that Fourth Amendment consent need only be voluntary, not knowing and intelligent." Id. ¶ 19 (Hagedorn, J., concurring) (citing Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 241 (1973)). This Court is bound to follow United States Supreme Court precedent on federal constitutional questions, even if it conflicts with decisions from the Wisconsin Supreme Court. State v. Jennings, 2002 WI 44, ¶ 19, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142.

Case 2022AP000882 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2022 Page 25 of 39

vast difference between those rights that protect a fair criminal trial," such as those under the Fifth and Sixth Amendment, "and the rights guaranteed under the Fourth Amendment." Id. "The protections of the Fourth Amendment are of a wholly different order" than trial rights, "and have nothing whatever to do with promoting the ascertainment of truth at a criminal trial." Id. at 242. The purpose of the Fourth Amendment is to prevent arbitrary invasions of privacy by the government; it has nothing to do with ensuring that a trial proceeds fairly. *Id.* Accordingly, "[n]othing, either in the purposes behind requiring a 'knowing' and 'intelligent' waiver of trial rights, or in the practical application of such a requirement suggests that it ought to be extended to the constitutional guarantee against unreasonable searches and seizures." Id. at 241.

In short, "[p]loys to mislead a suspect . . . that do not rise the level of compulsion or coercion" constitutionally permissible. *Illinois v. Perkins*, 496 U.S. 292, 297 (1990). Here, Vannieuwenhoven indisputably made an "essentially free and unconstrained choice" to take the survey, seal the envelope, and hand it back to Deputy Laskowski. Spivey, 861 F.3d at 1214 (citation omitted). The testimony undisputed at the suppression hearing established that Marinette County Detective Baldwin created a survey with questions about policing in Oconto County, and then asked Oconto County Sheriff's Deputy Laskowski to meet with Vannieuwenhoven and "have him fill out the survey, if he wanted to, and ultimately asked him to have it sealed in an envelope." (R. 137:17, 42.)

Deputy Laskowski went to Vannieuwenhoven's house, knocked on the door, and explained that he "was interested in talking with him and completing a survey about law enforcement in northern Oconto County." (R. 137:45.) Vannieuwenhoven, completely on his own initiative, agreed to do so; voluntarily allowed Deputy Laskowski into the

Case 2022AP000882 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2022 Page 26 of 39

house; and answered the survey questions. (R. 137:45.) Deputy Laskowski then folded the survey and placed it into the envelope, handed it to Vannieuwenhoven, and asked him to seal and return it. (R. 137:45–46.) Vannieuwenhoven voluntarily licked the envelope, sealed it, and handed it back to Deputy Laskowski. (R. 137:46–47.) And Deputy Laskowski testified that Vannieuwenhoven was coherent and alert when he participated—there was nothing to suggest that he lacked the capacity to make a voluntary choice. (R. 137:48); see Bustamonte, 412 U.S. at 226.

used no coercion. pressure, duress whatsoever to get Vannieuwenhoven to participate in the survey or to lick the envelope and return it to them. Vannieuwenhoven completed every step of this process of his own free will; he could have refused at any point. There was no abuse, no badgering, no threat of violence, no battery of armed officers looming; there was not even a demand that Vannieuwenhoven participate in the survey. And in fact, the police did not lie to Vannieuwenhoven about any part of this process: they did conduct the survey about policing with him. Vannieuwenhoven even knew that the person he was handing the envelope to was a law enforcement officer. Laskowski simply didn't inform him that the police didn't care about his answers to the survey and were really just hoping to collect a saliva sample from him. (R. 137:43–52.) But again, the Constitution does not "require that the police supply a suspect with a flow of information to help him calibrate his self-interest" in his dealings with law enforcement. Burbine, 475 U.S. at 422. Deputy Laskowski did not have to inform Vannieuwenhoven about law enforcement's true objective in conducting the survey for Vannieuwenhoven's surrender of his saliva sample to be voluntary. Vannieuwenhoven simply had to make the choice to participate in the survey and hand it to Deputy Laskowski

Case 2022AP000882 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2022 Page 27 of 39

of his own free will without any implicit or explicit threat by police. *Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. at 228. And he clearly did so.

Multiple other states have considered challenges to similar ruses used by police to obtain a DNA sample, and have concluded that they comport with the Fourth Amendment.

In State v. Athan, 158 P.3d 27, ¶¶ 18–19, 26 (2007), the Washington Supreme Court held that there was no Fourth Amendment infringement when police used a ruse nearly identical to this one to obtain a suspect's saliva sample to test for his genetic identity. There, police sent the suspect in a 20-year-old cold case homicide, Athan, a letter purporting to be from a law firm inviting him to join a fictious class-action lawsuit by returning an enclosed form. Id. ¶¶ 3–5. Athan did so and, like here, police obtained his genetic identity from the saliva he used to seal the envelope, which led to his arrest and conviction for the murder. Id. ¶¶ 5–8. The Washington Supreme Court rejected his subsequent Fourth Amendment challenge, noting that Athan voluntarily licked the envelope and placed it in the mail, at which point he lost all privacy interest in the saliva because it then became property of the recipient. Id. \P 18. The court was completely unbothered by the use of the ruse to obtain it; indeed, the court's discussion of the ruse focused on whether the fact that the detectives posed as attorneys transformed Athan's saliva into a "private affair" protected by the attorney-client privilege, which the court held it did not. $Id. \P\P 26-28$.

New York reached the same conclusion—that there was no Fourth Amendment violation—where detectives obtained a defendant's saliva sample by falsely representing that they were investigating a theft from the defendant's employer and the defendant voluntarily licked an envelope containing a lost property report. *Moreaux*, 174 N.Y.S.3d at 241, 245–47. The New York court reached the same result in

Case 2022AP000882 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2022 Page 28 of 39

a case where detectives contrived a "taste test challenge" and obtained the defendant's saliva sample from a piece of chewing gum he voluntarily discarded to participate. *People v. LaGuerre*, 29 A.D.3d 820, 822 (N.Y. 2d Dept. 2006).

Indeed, it is well established that the Fourth Amendment permits police to collect voluntarily abandoned items to develop a person's genetic identity, even if the police used a ruse to obtain the items or initially provided the defendant with those items in the hope that the defendant would do so. See, e.g., Commonwealth v. Ewing, 854 N.E.2d 993, 1000–01 (Mass. Ct. App. 2006) (no Fourth Amendment violation when police engaged in a ruse to get defendant to abandon cigarette butts); *United States v. Hicks*, No. 2:18-cr-20406-JTF-7, 2020 WL 7311607, *2 (W.D. Tenn. Dec. 11, (defendant maintained no privacy interest in voluntarily abandoned cigarette butt); Williamson v. State, 993 A.2d 626, 633–37 (Ct. App. Md. 2010) (no Fourth Amendment violation when police extracted his DNA profile from a cup the defendant abandoned after police provided him a meal during interrogation).

And that is all that happened here. Police engineered a scenario in which they hoped Vannieuwenhoven would voluntarily abandon a saliva sample containing his genetic identity. Vannieuwenhoven did so, and the police collected the abandoned material for their own purposes. That is well within the long-recognized boundaries of the Fourth Amendment.

B. Vannieuwenhoven had no reasonable expectation of privacy in his saliva after voluntarily abandoning the envelope containing it to police, thus no Fourth Amendment event occurred when police extracted his genetic identity from it.

"[B]efore a defendant can invoke the protections of the Fourth Amendment, he or she must establish a legitimate expectation of privacy in the object searched." *Roberts*, 196 Wis. 2d at 453. "A defendant does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in an item once it has been abandoned." *Id.* (citing *Abel*, 362 U.S. at, 241). "In the [F]ourth [A]mendment context, the test for abandonment of property is distinct from the property law notion of abandonment; it is possible for a person to retain a property interest in an item but nonetheless to relinquish his or her reasonable expectation of privacy in the object." *Roberts*, 196 Wis. 2d at 454.

"The defendant must show two things" to establish a reasonable expectation of privacy: "(1) that he or she had an actual, subjective expectation of privacy in the area searched and item seized and (2) that society is willing to recognize the defendant's expectation of privacy as reasonable." *State v. Tentoni*, 2015 WI App 77, ¶ 7, 365 Wis. 2d 211, 871 N.W.2d 285.

Vannieuwenhoven cannot make either showing. First, he has failed to make any argument that he had any subjective expectation of privacy in his saliva that he placed on the envelope after he handed the envelope to law enforcement. Instead, he argues that courts have struggled to apply Fourth Amendment principles to new technologies, and thus appears to conclude *sub silencio* that he is relieved of showing that he had a subjective expectation of privacy in his genetic identity once he provided the envelope with his saliva on it to the police. (Vannieuwenhoven's Br. 8–12.) But

he points to no case showing that a defendant's simple failure to foresee what use police might make of evidence once it is in their possession is enough to establish a subjective expectation of privacy in that evidence. Without something explaining why Vannieuwenhoven subjectively expected that his genetic identity would not be available to police once he handed them his saliva or showing any steps he took to conceal it, he has failed to meet his burden.

Nor can Vannieuwenhoven establish that there is an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy that society is prepared to accept as legitimate in one's genetic identity after one voluntarily abandons it, and particularly voluntarily abandons it directly to law enforcement. The court in *Tentoni* described the following non-exclusive factors relevant to the determination of whether a person has a recognizable, reasonable expectation of privacy in an area or item:

- (1) Whether the person had a property interest in the premises;
- (2) Whether the person was legitimately on the premises;
- (3) Whether the person had complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others;
- (4) Whether the person took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy;
- (5) Whether the person put the property to some private use; and
- (6) Whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy.

Tentoni, 365 Wis. 2d 211, ¶ 7 (citation omitted). In Tentoni, this Court applied those factors and held that a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in text messages sent to another person's phone because the person has no property interest in the person's phone, no control over that phone or any right to exclude others from it or control over whom the

Case 2022AP000882 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2022 Page 31 of 39

receiving party showed the text messages, and the defendant did not claim that he took any steps to enhance the privacy of the messages or tell the person to keep them private. Id. \P 8. The court observed that, similarly, "it is widely accepted that the sender of a letter has no privacy in the contents of that letter once it reaches the recipient," id. \P 9, and that the sender of an email likewise retains no reasonable expectation of privacy in an email once it reaches its recipient. Id. This is because the sender then loses all control over what the receiver does with the letter, email, or text messages. Id. \P 10.

Here, application of the *Tentoni* factors shows that Vannieuwenhoven did not retain any objective expectation of privacy in his saliva after he voluntarily provided the sealed envelope to police. Vannieuwenhoven retained no property interest in either the saliva or the envelope once he handed it to police officers. He had no control over what police did with the envelope or the saliva sample once it left his possession nor any right to exclude others from access to them. He did not take any steps to guard his genetic identity—after all, licking an envelope, while customary, is not the only way to seal one—and he did not tell the police what they could or could not do with the saliva or the envelope once it left his hands.

And historical notions of privacy are such that Vannieuwenhoven retained no reasonable expectation of privacy in the envelope or saliva he willingly handed to law enforcement. Again, a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in a letter once the recipient receives it. *Tentoni*, 365 Wis. 2d 211, ¶ 9. And "[w]hat a person knowingly exposes to the public, even in his own home or office, is not a subject of Fourth Amendment protection." *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967). The Fourth Amendment is

thus not implicated when a person is compelled to provide physical evidence that is regularly exposed to the public handwriting samples. voice samples. fingerprints. See United States v. Dionisio, 410 U.S. 1, 10-14 (1973); United States v. Mara, 410 U.S. 19 (1973); See also State v. Doe, 78 Wis. 2d 161, 168-71, 254 N.W.2d 210 (1977). And people are exposing their genetic identity to the public all the time, certainly no less frequently than fingerprints; people leave their genetic identities on cups, silverware. clothing, papers, shopping cart handles, doorknobs, and everything else they may touch, put in their mouths, or bleed upon on a daily basis. Accordingly, Massachusetts held that a person retained no reasonable expectation of privacy in his DNA profile police collected from his saliva after the person spit on the sidewalk. Commonwealth v. Cabral, 866 N.E.2d 429, 432–33 (Mass. Ct. App. 2007). The fact that a process is required to collect and utilize this genetic identity evidence does not change the analysis and is no different than fingerprints, either—those

⁸ Again, Vannieuwenhoven was not compelled to provide anything—he could have told officers he was not interested and demanded that they leave his property.

⁹ As the Supreme Court recognized in *Dionisio*, that Court indeed held in *Davis v. Mississippi*, 394 U.S. 721 (1969) that the Fourth Amendment required suppression of the defendant's fingerprints in that case. *United States v. Dionisio*, 410 U.S. 1, 15 (1973). But that result followed because they were compelled from the defendant after an unconstitutional seizure and detention of the defendant's person for the purpose of taking the fingerprints with no probable cause or even reasonable suspicion, making the fingerprints themselves the fruit of an unconstitutional seizure. *Id.* And even then, the Court underscored that "the fingerprinting itself 'involves none of the probing into an individual's private life and thoughts that marks and interrogation or search." *Id.* (citation omitted). There was no seizure of Vannieuwenhoven's person in this case that would compel the result from *Davis*.

Case 2022AP000882 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2022 Page 33 of 39

must also be collected, analyzed, and compared to other samples, but that does not mean that people are not regularly exposing their fingerprints to the public.

It has also historically been recognized that a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in items over which a person relinquishes control, regardless of the fact that they may later be processed for personally identifying biological evidence. State v. Bauer, 127 Wis. 2d 401, 407, 379 N.W.2d 895 (Ct. App. 1985). For example, a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in their garbage once it has been collected or disposed of in a communal place. State v. Stevens, 123 Wis. 2d 303, 367 N.W.2d 788 (1985) (no reasonable expectation of privacy in garbage once it has been collected from the curb for disposal); State v. Yakes, 226 Wis. 2d 425, 595 N.W.2d 108 (Ct. App. 1999) (no reasonable expectation of privacy in garbage abandoned in a commercial dumpster available to the public); State v. Knight, 2000 WI App 16, ¶¶ 13–14, 232 Wis. 2d 305, 606 N.W.2d 291 (former attorney had no reasonable expectation of privacy in client files that "ended up in the garage attic of a third party who was preparing to place the files at curbside for disposal" and were thus abandoned). Similarly, a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in an item they have discarded from their person or disclaimed owning. Hester v. United States, 265 U.S. 57, 58 (1924) (defendant had abandoned and thus had no reasonable expectation of privacy in a bottle he threw while being chased by police); State v. Kirby, 2014 WI App 74, ¶ 21, 355 Wis. 2d 423, 851 N.W.2d 796 (defendant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in a backpack after he denied ownership of it).

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